FILED

12/12/2023

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0475



ORIGINAL

Pamela Jo Polejewski
Appellant Pro se litigant
77 Wexford Lane
Great Falls, MT 59404
ppolejewski@yahoo.com

FILED

DEC 12 2023

Bowen Greenwood
Clerk of Supreme Court
State of Montana

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MONTANA

Cause No. DA ²³25-0475

PAMELA JO POLEJEWSKI

Plaintiff and Appellant

Vs

OPENING BRIEF
LEGAL
MISREPRESENTATION

STATE OF MONTANA and TYLER FRIES

Defendant and Appellee

Cascade County BDV-23-0225

Order appealed from attached as Exhibit 1 to Notice of Appeal

Sarah Mazanee State Bar No. 12469
Department of Administration

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Fire on Plaintiff's property May 6th, 2020

Law enforcement used the fire as a pretext to begin a way to start criminal proceedings against the Plaintiff

Law enforcement once on the property May 6th, 2020 never left until May 12th, 2020

Plaintiff and supporters were barred from her property and caring for her animals

Law enforcement once on the property May 6th, 2020 never left until May 12th, 2020 taking pictures during three disasters as a way to criminalize Plaintiff during a fire, torrential downpour of rain and a mob of people all flooding to the property that were not fire fighters

Plaintiff and her supporters coming to help were banned from the property and from caring for the animals by Cascade County Officials

Law enforcement falsely stated they had a warrant on May 7th, 2020 0800 am and the property and the animals were now the property of Cascade County....they refused to produce the warrant as they had no such warrant at that time

The warrant and the means used to obtain it was to be scrutinized by Tyler Fries but he failed to argue this issue

The Judge on this case issued the warrant on May 7th, 2020 approx 12:pm...in four hours from 0800 am until 12:pm me and my supporters would have had all the animals cared for as all the supplies needed were on the property but were physically obstructed from doing so as they were going around taking pictures to fulfill their false narrative and agenda to criminalize Plaintiff

Cascade County Officials and affiliates immediately started removing animals with out due process, citations or justification for this enactment starting May 7th, 2020

May 8th, 2020 I submitted a letter to Cascade County prosecutors not to kill any animals as some with medical conditions were receiving Veterinary attention....this was also stated to law enforcement on May 6th, 2020....that same day they killed a dog by the name of NavaJo without any hesitation or due process under the law

Cascade County Officials immediately started killing animals before any hearings or input from Plaintiff's veterinarian even though Plaintiff petitioned the court for hearings and notified them the animals were under Veterinary supervision on May 8th, 2020 and May 18th, 2020

Cascade County Officials killed animals before any criminal charges had been filed and Plaintiff filed counterclaims about all the constitutional rights that were being violated May 14th, 2020

Cascade County Officials in retaliation filed criminal charges on May 15th, 2020 and sent out multiple sheriff vehicles to come arrest Plaintiff

A miniature pony that was eating and trotting around prior to the raid in my custody was murdered May 18th, 2020 on some other premises claiming he was no longer walking or eating in their custody

Plaintiff petitioned for a animal welfare hearing again trying to prevent harm coming to the animals seized by Cascade County Officials and affiliates May 18th, 2020

Tyler Fries Public Defender assigned to the case May 22nd, 2020

Tyler Fries contacted Plaintiff by telephone and I stated Cascade County Officials and affiliates were on my property illegally and he assured me he would be raising that constitutional right violation

May 26th, 2020 a hearing was held at the Cascade County Prosecutors request ...procedurally I should have been allowed to present my case first as I had petitioned for a hearing May 18th,2020....all of the documents, photographs, exhibits, affidavits, list of witnesses I had given to Tyler Fries were never used in my defense...among all the other deficiencies argued about his substandard performance as a defense attorney

Tyler Fries did not raise any objections or make any constitutional arguments...he did not argue the illegal search and seizure of my property which started all the unlawful proceedings against the Plaintiff and resulted in the needless death and destruction of Plaintiff's animals

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Proceedings started after a fire on May 6th, 2020

Proceedings started after an illegal search and seizure

May 18th, 2020 Plaintiff petitioned for an animal welfare hearing

May 22nd, 2020 Tyler Fries Public Defender was assigned to the case

May 26th, 2020 a hearing was held that has been called many things;

Evidentiary hearing

"Cost for caring" for animals that had no reason to be remove let alone on unlawful foundations

Civil hearing for seizures without citations and due process and before their are any criminal convictions "cart before the horse"

Where a citizen sustains a huge amount of damages that can never be replaced upon adjudication of criminal charges which is a huge due process violation

Ultimately Tyler Fries demonstrated substandard professional ethical performance as a defense attorney by basically not putting forth any type of defense at all

Tyler Fries put in a request to the court to be removed from the civil proceedings after he cost the Plaintiff her whole case and was released in June 2020

Plaintiff went on to try to correct all his deficiencies in not arguing any constitutional violations but was met with res judicata

Tyler Fries assured Plaintiff he would again raise the unconstitutional search and seizure of May 6th, 2020 at the trial court

Trial was scheduled for August 5th, 2020

One week before trial i brought up the issue of arguing the unconstitutional and unlawful search and seizure of May 6th, 2020 and he said he was going to "infer" it to the jury and I became upset

A hearing was scheduled to address this refusal by Tyler Fries to represent his client as she has insisted on since the beginning of the case in the District Court June 28th, 2020

Tyler Fries was removed as the Attorney on the case and he even admitted his error(s)

INTRODUCTION THAT THIS IS A FRAUD, MISREPRESENTATION, NEGLIGENCE,
INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF LEGAL COUNSEL COMPLAINT ON APPEAL

Questions of duty by Montana rules of Professional Conduct Model Rules 4.1 (a) and 8.4 (c) when a Plaintiff is claiming negligent misrepresentation and extends that duty to tort law, Restatement of (Second) of Torts, constitutional law and Common Law. A lawyer owes their client a duty of reasonable care under the circumstances by virtue of the Model Rules 4.1(a) and 8.4 (c). Ethic Rules impose on lawyers an obligation of honesty and to the reasonableness of a defendant's (the Plaintiff) reliance on a lawyer's representation. A lawyer's violation of ethical rules and profession conduct rules is sufficient to establish a breach of fiduciary duty leading to liability for fraud if the remaining elements of the cause of action can be proven. Plaintiff asserts the case within the case that the outcome would of been much better in the underlying matter had the attorney not breached the standard of care.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Review de novo for Erroneous dismissal of misrepresentation complaint because of lack of subject matter jurisdiction when state courts are presumed to have power to hear any claim arising under federal or state laws
2. Review de novo for When an attorney violates his duty to address an unlawful search and seizure of his client's person and possessions and the unlawful search warrant.
3. Review de novo that the Judge that issued the search warrant obtained by unlawful

means should have recused herself from this misrepresentation complaint for conflict of interest due to the presence of bias in possibly trying to protect the warrant she issued

4. Review de novo for when the conflict of interest was brought forward the Judge erroneously denied recusing herself for conflict of interest

5. Review de novo for when conflict of interest was brought forward the Judge erroneously denied a change of venue motion filed by Appellant

6. Review de novo the Judge's denial of a Stay of Judgment pending more information coming forward on the illegal search and seizure of Appellant's premises in another District Court proceeding. (A competent defense attorney is actually doing the job the first attorney on the case neglected to do so therefore the misrepresentation claim against the defendant)

7. Review de novo the Judge erroneously denied allowing an Amending of the Complaint and supplementing the pleadings in the early stages of the case before briefing on the merits and before a trial setting that can be done by a leave of court petition

8. Review de novo the Judge erroneously ruled on my request to have the truth of the matters revealed in a court proceeding or through discovery stating that she has no jurisdiction over finding out the facts of a case regarding constitutional law violations

9. Review de novo the Judge erroneously ruled to dismiss because Appellant wasn't initially making a demand for monetary compensation as relief for having her constitutional rights violated by misrepresentation. An issue that can be amended with an Amended Complaint

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Defense Attorneys fundamentally have a duty to protect the rights of the accused.

A lawyer should always pursue the truth. The Courts could look to the Common Law of bad faith in legal misrepresentation by an attorney and the reasonable basis concept.

The Common Law of Misrepresentation is relevant in this case. Tyler Fries' Public Defender falsely assured his client he would argue the unconstitutionality of the illegal search and seizure of his client's premises and he failed to do so. The defendant Tyler Fries knew about the illegal search and seizure and by omitting this constitutional argument in a District court hearing he allowed the "fruit from a poisonous tree" to move forward. The Plaintiff has been trying to fight this due to his act of negligence by omission for the last four years. The first thing the new defense attorneys did that got assigned to the case was to file a motion to suppress evidence based on an illegal search and seizure with a motion to dismiss. Plaintiff has had four years of losing legal battles in the courts because of res judicata claims. This all could have been prevented had Tyler Fries argued the constitutional arguments initially in 2020.

- 1.) The defendant presented to the plaintiff that he was going to argue the illegal search and seizure
- 2.) The defendant did not raise the constitutional argument so his representation was false
- 3.) The defendant knew the representation was false or he was reckless about its truth. Defendant admitted it in a hearing where i requested he be removed as the attorney on record due to his negligence by omission
- 4.) The defendant knew the plaintiff had emphasized to argue the illegal search and seizure immediately and defendant assured plaintiff he would
- 5.) The plaintiff relied on her attorney the defendant to keep his word

- 6.) The plaintiff was harmed by the reliance on her attorney to make constitutional argument he failed to do
- 7.) The plaintiff's reliance on the defendant's representation was a substantial factor in causing the irreparable harm sustained

Whether characterizing it as fraud or misrepresentation a plaintiff seeking a right to the damages inflicted upon her by someone else's neglect must show she had a right to rely on that information or that it was reasonable to rely on that information and that this caused damages.

Relief for damages A court has the authority to grant punitive damages as they deem appropriate Relief in criminal proceedings for ineffective assistance of counsel the Montana Supreme Court has ordered to have a new trial. Strickland vs Washington Montana Constitution Article II S 24 Rights of the accused

The Sixth Amendment to the US Constitution guarantees the right to assistance of counsel /attorney in criminal cases. All proceedings in this case stemmed from an illegal search and seizure of Plaintiff's property. The "fruit of the poisonous tree" was used in an Evidentiary Hearing May 26th, 2020 to begin civil and criminal proceedings.

Ultimately, caused the horrific death of many of Plaintiff's animals at the hands of Cascade County Officials without constitutional protections and due process. Tyler Fries was at this hearing as the attorney on record appointed to represent the Plaintiff. Tyler Fries assured his client he would argue the constitutional violations that were occurring because of the illegal search and seizure of May 6th, 2020. In fact, he did the opposite and accepted discovery that was coming in over a fax during the course of the hearing

instead of arguing the evidence being submitted was out of context and unlawfully obtained.

Amend the pleadings Rule 8 A. (2)

Amend the complaint Rule 8 A. (1)(2)

Amending is a matter allowed by law by a leave of court petition to the court requesting to Amend the Complaint

See Montana Rules for Professional Conduct

Rule 8.4 in Montana in all professional functions a lawyer should be competent, prompt and diligent

Rule 6.1

The Montana Rules for Professional Conduct and the American Bar Association's Standards for Criminal Justice help inform and guide the conduct of all attorneys. The American Bar Association developed standards which define the responsibilities of defense in criminal cases and all proceedings in association with the case. The Courts recognize that "prevailing norms of practice as reflected in the American Bar Association standards and the like.....ae guides to determining what is reasonable." These standards serve as useful benchmarks for The Office of Public Defenders to help define what constitutes "reasonably effective assistance" as required by the Sixth Amendment and Article II 24 of the Montana Constitution.

The constitutional right to appointed counsel requires the attorney to be free of conflicts of interest. The existence of an actual conflict of interest can invalidate a conviction and require a new trial. A conflict of interest can occur when a court appointed attorney has an excessive caseload. See ACLU vs Montana Public

defenders class action lawsuit February 14th, 2002 “alleging that the indigent defense services in seven counties are constitutionally deficient”.

ARGUMENTS

I. CONSTITUTIONAL DUTIES OF THE OFFICE OF THE STATE PUBLIC DEFENDER

State and Federal constitutional provisions guarantee the right to the assistance of counsel to persons involved in criminal and civil cases. In this case scenario it is blurred as to when a civil proceeding becomes a criminal proceeding. Both proceedings started with an unconstitutional act of an illegal search and seizure of Plaintiff’s property May 6th, 2020 until May 12th, 2020. The Montana Public Defender Act, enacted in 2005 and set out in Title 47 of the Montana Code, codified the right to counsel in criminal and civil cases. Title 47 establishes the mechanisms by which courts may order the Office of the State Public Defender to assign attorneys to represent persons who have the right to assistance of counsel. The constitutional guarantee of the right to counsel has been held to require effective assistance of counsel. This guarantee applies to every criminal (quasi criminal) prosecution, without regard to whether counsel is retained or appointed. The Office of Public Defender has a duty , rooted in the constitutions , to provide its clients with effective representation.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees the right to the assistance of an attorney in criminal cases: “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right....to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense.” Article II 24 of

the Montana Constitution also expressly guarantees the right to an attorney in criminal cases: “in all criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel.” In Gideon vs Wainwright, a landmark 1963 decision in the US Supreme Court held that under the Sixth Amendment, a person who “in our adversary system of criminal justice, any person hauled into court, who is too poor to hire a lawyer, cannot be assured a fair trial unless counsel is provided for him.”

The Montana Supreme Court has adopted and applied the rules announced in the Gideon line of cases. The constitutional right to counsel in criminal case has also been codified. Sec 47-1-104(4) MCA includes on direct appeal. This right to the assistance of counsel attaches when a prosecution commences, either by way of formal charge, preliminary hearing, information, or arraignment such as the May 26th, 2020 evidentiary hearing. Once the right to counsel attaches, the accused is entitled to the presence of appointed counsel during any “critical stage.” “Critical stages” are proceedings between an individual and agents of the State (whether “formal” or “informal,” in court or out),....that amount to “trial-like confrontations”, at which counsel would help the accused “in coping with legal problems ormeeting his adversary. Events which may

constitute critical stages for which counsel should present include:

- Preliminary hearings*****May 26th, 2020

- Arraignments

- During the pre-trial period between arraignment until the trial

- Trials

- Sentencing

Direct appeal

It has long been recognized that “the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel.” Mere formal appointment of an attorney does not satisfy the constitutional guarantee of effective representation. “[T]he assistance must be effective to give the true meaning to that right and to the right to a fair trial. “ The Montana Supreme Court recently reiterated that “[a]bsent effective assistance of counsel, the right to counsel is “nothing more than a procedural formality.” According to the US Supreme Court, “[t]hat a person who happens to be a lawyer is present at trial alongside the accused ... is not enough to satisfy the constitutional command. The sixth Amendment recognizes the right to the assistance of counsel because it envisions counsel’s playing a role that is critical to the ability of the adversarial system to produce just results. An accused is entitled to be assisted by an attorney...who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair. Tyler Fries fails miserably on all fronts as a defense attorney who failed to raise even the most basics of a legal defense. It is a critically important consideration of what effective representation is .A Defendant may be able to get her conviction reversed, or get a sentence vacated, if she can demonstrate that the attorney assigned to the case provided ineffective representation, in violation of the constitutional right to counsel. In Strickland vs Washington the seminal case on issues of ineffective assistance claims, the US Supreme Court established a two part test. 1.) Performance basedThe proper measure of attorney performance

The defendant's attorney has tried to use "straw man arguments" "gaslighting" to somehow make this about the Plaintiff's guilt . Guilt that has never been substantiated in a court of law therefore she fails miserably to manipulate this case to make it about the Plaintiff. The real legal issue here is about addressing the fact Tyler Fries misrepresented his client by his negligence and poor performance as an attorney.

II . ADDRESSING PAST HISTORY COMMENTS BY STATE ATTORNEY

This attorney goes into past history which is unlawful, unethical and irrelevant in a court of law that is taken out of context and therefore false .Thus, it is not even accurate information to be used against the Plaintiff. Senate Bill 320 was created to be used against the Plaintiff.

III. SENATE BILL 320 MCA 27-1-434 HAS NOT BEEN ESTABLISHED TO BE CONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE OR AS APPLIED TO THIS CASE
IT IS A CASE OF FIRST IMPRESSION
THERE IS NO CASE LAW ESTABLISHING ITS CREDIBILITY

This attorney fails to mention my case is a case of first impression. MCA 27-1-434 has not been proven to be constitutional on its face or as it was applied in my case, Statutes are only "assumed" to be constitutional until they are challenged by ethical, professional and competent attorneys which is currently taking place in my case. This attorney cannot assert her statements are substantiated facts when her client did nothing to address the unconstitutionality of MCA 27-1-434 on its face or as it was applied. Therefore, she falsely claims these are settled matters of law and they are

from it as the constitutional arguments are coming forth from the defense attorneys presently on my case(s). The current defense attorneys are demonstrating what attorneys actually doing their job to defend their client looks like. In the first order of business they filed a Motion to Suppress Evidence and a Motion to Dismiss which will change the trajectory of my whole case(s).

III. SENATE BILL 320 IS GROSS ABUSE OF POWER AND GOVERNMENT OVERREACH UNDER COLOR OF LAW

This State attorney neglected to mention I had filed an Animal Welfare Hearing on May 18th, 2020 where my own Veterinarian could give her input on the animals. Instead the State uses people that were "on their payroll" to give testimonies beneficial to the State. The fact this is a very questionable unethical practice also signifies unconstitutional biases and due process right violations. A Montana citizen has every right to second opinions in her defense before animals are ruthlessly murdered. This did not transpire in this case. What a joke this attorney calls it a "cost for caring" hearing. It is actually an unconstitutional "cost for killing" of a citizen's property without due process. This attorney states by "preponderance of the evidence" animals were subjected to cruelty. This attorney neglects to state her client Tyler Fries did absolutely nothing to intervene on this false assertion so of course unjust judgments get rendered. Unjust judgments are extremely damaging to both the Plaintiff and her animals. Tyler Fries' lack of defense resulted in many more of Plaintiff's animals being murdered by the

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