FILED

01/11/2024

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0475

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 23-0475

PAMELA JO POLEJEWSKI,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA and TYLER FRIES,

Defendants/Appellees

On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Cascade County, Cause No. BDV-23-0225 Hon. Elizabeth Best

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

APPEARANCES:

Pro Se Plaintiff/Appellant:

Pamela Jo Polejewski 77 Wexford Lane Great Falls, MT 59404 ppolejewski@yahoo.com Attorneys for Defendant/Appellee:

Sarah Mazanec Risk Management Tort Defense Division PO Box 200124 Helena, MT 59620-0124 Phone: (406) 444-3562 sarah.mazanec@mt.gov

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Though Polejewski claims she brought a professional negligence claim, the substance of her Amended Complaint, and her briefing on appeal, establish that her claim is a collateral attack on the judgment in the "cost of care" hearing and on the pending criminal charges against her. She seeks to have the judgment in the "cost of care" hearing overturned, and to have the criminal charges against her dismissed.

The District Court properly determined it did not have subject matter jurisdiction to grant "post-conviction relief" or to order the return of the animals that were forfeited to Cascade County. The District Court also properly determined that a stay was futile, as it could not grant the requested relief, no matter how the criminal matter unfolded. In addition, it was proper for the District Court judge not to recuse herself as Polejewski failed to file a motion to disqualify and because Polejewski has made no showing that the district judge is personally biased or prejudiced against Polejewski. Finally, the District Court's order denying a change of venue should also be affirmed as Polejewski made no showing that the venue was inappropriate in Cascade County. The District Court's order dismissing the matter with prejudice should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

A. <u>The District Court Correctly Determined It Could Not Grant Post-</u> <u>Conviction Relief.</u>

The District Court correctly determined that it did not have subject matter jurisdiction to grant "post-conviction relief" from the judgment in the "cost of care" hearing. Polejewski asserts the "cost of care" hearing was "in reality a criminal trial" and seeks "post-conviction relief" from the judgment in the claim. However, the "cost of care" proceeding was a civil proceeding, and Polejewski is not entitled to seek a change in the outcome of the proceeding. Post-conviction relief can only be sought in criminal proceedings. Section 46-21-101(1), MCA, provides:

A person adjudged guilty of an *offense* in a court of record who has no adequate remedy of appeal and who claims that a *sentence* was imposed in violation of the constitution or the laws of the state or the constitution of the United States. . . may petition the court that imposed the sentence to vacate, set aside or correct the sentence or revocation order.

8

(Emphasis added). An "offense" is defined as "a violation of any penal statute of this state or any ordinance of its political subdivisions." Section 46-1-202(15), MCA. A "sentence" is defined as the "judicial disposition of a criminal proceeding upon a plea of guilty or nolo contendere or upon a verdict or finding of guilty." Section 46-1-202(26), MCA.

The "cost of care" hearing was a civil proceeding. Section 27-1-434, MCA. Polejewski was not adjudged guilty of an "offense," and she was not given a "sentence." Instead, the district court overseeing the "cost of care" hearing determined that the preponderance of the evidence established that Polejewski's animals were subjected to cruelty or forced fighting and set a bond to cover the "reasonable expenses expected to be incurred in caring for the animals for a period of 30 days." Section 27-1-434(6), MCA; *See also*, Dckt. 27, Ex. 7. Polejewski failed to post the requisite bond, and the animals were properly forfeited to Cascade County. The District Court correctly determined that it did not have jurisdiction to grant "post-conviction relief" from a civil proceeding.

The District Court also properly determined that it did not have jurisdiction to grant post-conviction relief in the ongoing criminal proceeding.¹ Post-conviction

¹ Though Polejewski claims she is not requesting judicial interference in her

relief is only available after a conviction becomes final. Section 46-21-102, MCA. Given that Polejewski's criminal case is still pending, she cannot seek postconviction relief as a remedy for alleged professional negligence.

B. <u>The District Court Correctly Determined Polejewski's Injunctive</u> <u>Request Was Moot.</u>

The District Court properly determined it did not have jurisdiction to grant relief from the judgment in the "cost of care" hearing. A court lacks jurisdiction to decide a case if it does not present a justiciable controversy, meaning "a controversy that can be disposed of and resolved in the courts." *Gateway Opencut Mining Action Grp. v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs*, 2011 MT 198, ¶ 16, 361 Mont. 398, 260 P.3d 133. "Justiciability therefore is a threshold requirement that must be met before a court may grant relief." *Advocates for Sch. Trust Lands v. State*, 2022 MT 46, ¶ 18, 408 Mont. 39, 505 P.3d 825.

Mootness is a central concept of justiciability. *Advocates*, ¶ 19 (citation and quotation omitted). "[C]ourts lack jurisdiction to decide moot issues insofar as an actual 'case or controversy' no longer exists[.]" *Greater Missoula Area Fed'n of*

criminal proceeding, she argues on appeal that she is entitled to a new trial in the criminal matter because of Fries' alleged negligence. *See*, Opening Br. Leg. Misrepresentation, pp. 4, 8, 26.

Early Childhood Educators v. Child Start, Inc., 2009 MT 362, ¶ 23, 353 Mont.

201, 219 P.3d 881. An issue is moot if a court is unable to grant effective relief or to restore the parties to their original positions due to an intervening event or change in circumstances. *Wyo- Ben, Inc. v. Bixby*, 2014 MT 334, ¶ 22, 377 Mont.
318, 339 P.3d 1255; *Plan Helena, Inc. v. Helena Reg'l Airport Auth. Bd.*, 2010 MT 26, ¶ 10, 355 Mont. 142, 226 P.3d 567.

An injunctive request is moot if it seeks to prevent an act that has already been committed. *Mustang Holdings, LLC v. Zaveta*, 2006 MT 234, ¶ 15, 333 Mont. 471, 143 P.3d 456 citing *Bouma v. Bynum Irrigation District*, 139 Mont. 360, 364 P.2d 47 (1961). *See also, State ex rel. Tillman v. District Court*, 101 Mont. 176, 53 P.2d 107 (1935); *Iverson v. Dilno*, 44 Mont. 270, 119 P. 719 (1911); *Adkins v. City of Livingston*, 121 Mont. 528, 194 P.2d 238 (1948). An injunction cannot issue if the "entire injury is in the past." *Mustang*, ¶ 15. citing *Billings Assoc. Plumbing, Etc. v. State Bd.*, 184 Mont. 249, 255, 602 P.2d 597, 601 (1979).

Here, as this Court has already recognized, Polejewski's animals have already been forfeited and there is nothing to enjoin: "The District Court was correct that, because the animals had already been legally disposed of, Polejewski's injunction request was moot." *State. v. Polejewski*, 2021 MT 283N at ¶ 12. Polejewski's animals were legally forfeited to the County and Polejewski is not entitled to relief from judgment of a civil proceeding that has concluded. Given that Polejewski's injunctive request is moot, the District Court correctly concluded it lacked jurisdiction to interfere in a concluded forfeiture proceeding.

C. <u>The District Court Properly Denied Polejewski's Motion for a</u> <u>Stay Given It Lacked Subject Matter Jurisdiction Over Her</u> <u>Claims.</u>

The District Court properly denied Polejewski's motion to stay the proceedings because it did not have subject matter jurisdiction over Polejewski's claims. Polejewski argues the District Court erred when it did not issue a stay to allow time for the judge overseeing her criminal proceedings to issue an order on various constitutional arguments she believes Fries should have asserted in the "cost of care hearing" that her current criminal defense attorney has asserted in the criminal proceedings. Opening Br. Leg. Misrepresentation, pp. 2, 27. A stay would have been futile given that the District Court does not have jurisdiction over Polejewski's claims. *See, Mills v. Scottrade, Inc.*, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 151525, *28, 2009 WL 10701740 (recognizing a stay should not be granted in circumstances in which it would serve no purpose); *See also, Kortlander v. Heritage Auctions*, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 135870, *19.

Similarly, for the first time on appeal, Polejewski argues that she should have been allowed to amend her complaint to add a claim for monetary relief. Polejewski never sought leave to amend her complaint to add a claim for monetary damages. In fact, she specifically disclaimed she was seeking monetary damages, and instead sought solely injunctive relief. Opening Br. Leg. Misrepresentation, p. 30. Given that Polejewski never sought leave to amend her complaint in the underlying action to add a claim for monetary damages, this Court should not consider this argument on appeal. *State v. Normandy*, 2008 MT 437, ¶ 18, 347 Mont. 505, 198 P.3d 834.

In addition, allowing Polejewski to amend her complaint to seek monetary damages would be futile. Polejewski failed to present any tort claims to the Department of Administration as required by the Montana Tort Claims Act, § 2-9-301(1), MCA. Affidavit of Mardi Slocum, Ex. A. Given Polejewski's failure to present the claims to the State, the District Court does not have jurisdiction over such claims. *Cottonwood Hills v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 238 Mont. 404, 407, 777 P.2d 1301, 1303 (1989) (Holding district court does not have jurisdiction over tort claims that were not first presented to the State in accordance with § 2-9-301(1), MCA). As the District Court does not have jurisdiction to review any tort claim, allowing Polejewski to amend to bring a tort claim for monetary damages would be futile. *See, Reier Broad. Co. v. Mont. State Univ.-Bozeman*, 2005 MT 240, ¶ 13, 328 Mont. 471, 121 P.3d 549. The District Court's dismissal with prejudice should be affirmed given it would be useless to stay the proceedings or allow Polejewski to amend.

D. <u>Polejewski Failed to Properly Seek Recusal of the District Court</u> <u>Judge</u>.

Polejewski argues the District Court judge should have recused herself for cause because she issued the search warrant that Polejewski claims is invalid in her criminal proceeding. Opening Br. Leg. Misrepresentation, pp. 17-18. However, Polejewski failed to file a motion for substitution pursuant to § 3-1-804, MCA or a motion for disqualification for cause under § 3-1-805, MCA, and voluntarily waived her rights to substitute or disqualify the judge. In addition, Polejewski has not made any showing that the District Court judge had any personal bias or prejudice.

Each party is entitled to one substitution of a district judge in civil actions under § 3-1-804, MCA, if the party seeking substitution files a motion for substitution within thirty calendar days "after the first summons is served or an adverse party has appeared." Section 3-1-805, MCA sets forth the procedure that must be followed to disqualify a judge for cause. The party seeking disqualification must move for disqualification and file an affidavit "alleging facts showing personal bias or prejudice of the presiding judge." Section 3-1-805, MCA. A party must comply with § 3-1-805, MCA if challenging a judge for cause. See, *In re Guardianship & Conservatorship of A.M.M.*, 2016 MT 213, ¶ 23, 384 Mont. 413, 380 P.3d 736; *In re Estate of Boland*, 2019 MT 236, ¶ 37, 397 Mont. 319, 450 P.3d 849.

Polejewski did not comply with § 3-1-804, MCA or § 3-1-805. MCA. She never moved to substitute Judge Best, nor did she move to disqualify her for cause. Instead, Polejewski filed a motion to change venue that suggested she believed Judge Best was biased. Though Polejewski had multiple statutory remedies that would allow her to substitute or attempt to disqualify the District Court judge, Polejewski did not avail herself of any of these remedies and has waived her ability to seek disqualification. *See, Boland*, ¶ 37.

In addition, Polejewski cannot make the requisite showing that the District Court judge was biased or not impartial. Judges are presumptively considered fair and impartial. *In re A.M.M.*, ¶ 23. A judge has a duty to hear a case "where not disqualified, which is equally as strong as the duty to not sit where disqualified." *Boland*, ¶ 36, citing *Laird v. Tatum*, 409 U.S. 824, 837, 93 S. Ct. 7, 15, 34 L. Ed. 2d 50 (1972).

Polejewski's unsupported assertion that the District Court judge was biased because she issued the search warrant that led to criminal proceedings does not establish bias or partiality. The fact that a judge made an adverse ruling to Polejewski does not establish the judge should be disqualified. *Boland*, ¶ 40 ("Allowing an attorney to make baseless inquiries into a judge's impartiality because that judge has made adverse rulings would result in chaos in the courts, impugn the integrity of the judge, render meaningless a judge's commitment to impartially decide cases, and completely undermine public confidence in the judiciary."); State v. Strang, 2017 MT 217, ¶ 25, 388 Mont. 428, 401 P.3d 690 ("[A] judge's previous adverse rulings against a party do not constitute sufficient evidence to demonstrate a judge's personal bias or prejudice against that party.") Therefore, Polejewski cannot present any evidence that the District Court judge was biased, and the Court should deny consideration of this issue on appeal.

Polejewski failed to appeal the order denying her motion to change venue, and the issue is not properly before the Court. *Lockhead v. Lockhead*, 2013 MT 368, ¶ 15, 373 Mont. 120, 314 P.3d 915. In addition, Polejewski has made no factual showing that she could not have an impartial trial in Cascade County. *See*, § 25-2-201, MCA (Place of trial must be changed "when there is reason to believe that an impartial trial cannot be had therein"). Polejewski claimed she would not have an impartial trial because Fries regularly practices in Judge Best's court. As discussed above, Polejewski failed to move to disqualify or substitute Judge Best and is precluded from doing so on appeal. In addition, Polejewski has made no factual showing that she could not receive a fair and impartial trial in the current venue. The judicial system would be unable to function if district court judges were disqualified from proceeding in cases in which the involved attorneys regularly appeared in front of them. The District Court properly denied Polejewski's motion for a change of venue.

CONCLUSION

Polejewski's professional malpractice claim is nothing more than a collateral attack on her criminal proceedings and the forfeiture proceeding. As relief, Polejewski sought only court interference in these proceedings. The District Court correctly determined it did not have subject matter jurisdiction to grant Polejewski the requested relief, and its order should be affirmed. In addition, Polejewski's attack on the District Court judge is improper as she never moved for the disqualification of the judge and has set forth only baseless attacks on the District Court. Polejewski's motion for a change of venue was properly denied.

The Court should affirm the District Court in full.

SUBMITTED this 11th day of January, 2024.

By <u>/s/ Sarah Mazanec</u> SARAH MAZANEC RISK MANAGEMENT & TORT DEFENSE DIVISION